Pages: 18

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2015-CA-00966

CAROLYN MCADAMS

Appellant

VS.

SHERIEL F. PERKINS

Appellee

Appeal of Order of the Leflore County Circuit Court, Honorable Margaret Carey-McCray, in Sheriel F. Perkins v. Mayor & City Council of Greenwood, MS, et al.

Cause No. 2014-0074(CM)(L)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT CAROLYN MCADAMS

EXPEDITED CONSIDERATION REQUESTED

MARC A. BIGGERS, MB # 2533 UPSHAW, WILLIAMS, BIGGERS & BECKHAM, LLP Post Office Drawer 8230 Greenwood, Mississippi 38935-8230

Telephone: 662/455-1613

mbiggers@upshawwilliams.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT CAROLYN MCADAMS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2015-CA-00966

CAROLYN MCADAMS

Appellant

VS.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 authorizes a municipality to employ counsel to defend an election contest challenging the conduct of city officials carrying out their official duties during a city election.
- 2. Whether Miss. Code Ann. § 21-17-5, when read *in pari materia* with Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 and as interpreted by the Mississippi Attorney General, authorizes a municipality to employ counsel to defend a city's interests in an election contest challenging the conduct of city officials carrying out their official duties during a city election.
- 3. Whether the Circuit Court committed reversible error when it substituted its judgment for that of the Greenwood City Council's by holding as a matter of law that the City "has no legitimate legal interest" in the election contest challenging the June 4, 2013 Greenwood mayoral election when the City resolved that it did have an interest.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 4, 2013, the City of Greenwood conducted a general election for the office of Mayor. Appellant Carolyn McAdams was reelected to the office of Mayor by a margin of 206 votes. Appellee Sheriel Perkins, the losing candidate, then filed an election contest pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-951, naming Mayor McAdams as the defendant. In her Complaint and Amended Complaint, Perkins alleged various violations of the Mississippi Election Code, including the handling of affidavit and absentee ballots, ballot boxes, and certain polling

_

Because the original Complaint alleged certain violations of federal law by the City and its election officials, Defendant McAdams removed it to federal court. Upon removal to federal court, Plaintiff Perkins amended her Complaint to abandon all federal claims. Accordingly, the United States District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi remanded the remaining claim, a state law election contest, to the Leflore County Circuit Court.

procedures. Although Mayor McAdams is properly named as the sole defendant,² the lawsuit challenges the actions of the Elections Commissioners, certain poll workers, and the Municipal Clerk and his employees while carrying out their official duties on election day.

Mayor McAdams retained the law firm of Butler Snow LLP to defend the case shortly after she was served with process. At the request of McAdams's attorneys, and upon determining that the City had an interest in the election contest, the Greenwood City Council voted to retain Butler Snow LLP at a rate of \$175.00 per hour "to defend the election contest in State Court to represent the City's interest in upholding the validity of the municipal election and the actions of its elections officials pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. § 25-1-47 and as authorized by written opinion of the Mississippi Attorney General." R.E. 4.

On December 23, 2014, Perkins filed a bill of exceptions appealing the City's Resolution to the Circuit Court of Leflore County, Mississippi. R.E. 3. The Circuit Court heard Perkins's challenge on February 13, 2015. R.E. 6. By order dated May 11, 2015 (filed May 26, 2015), the Circuit Court reversed the City's Resolution, holding that the City of Greenwood "has no legitimate legal interest in the determination of [the] . . . election contest" and that the City was without statutory authority to retain counsel for any aspect of the defense. R.E. 2. Mayor McAdams noticed her appeal of the Circuit Court's decision to this Court on June 19, 2015.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court's May 11, 2015 Opinion and Order reversing the Greenwood City's Council's Resolution is incorrect. Under Mississippi law, a municipality has full authority to retain counsel to defend "claims made" against election officials. Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 authorizes and empowers a municipality to "provide legal counsel for the defense of any claim . . . made or

The Mayor has no official role in the conduct of a municipal general election. However, the Supreme Court has held that the only proper defendant in an election contest under the general election contest statute is the successful party in the election. *See Fisher v. Crowe*, 303 So. 2d 474, 475 (Miss. 1974).

brought against any . . . municipal officer . . . as a result of his actions while acting in the capacity of such officer" (emphasis added). The case *sub judice*, *Sheriel F. Perkins*, *et al. v. Carolyn McAdams*, although it correctly names only the mayor as a defendant, challenges the official actions of the Elections Commission, the poll workers, the municipal clerk, and the clerk's employees during the June 4, 2013 mayoral election for the City of Greenwood. It therefore contains "claims" "made against" "municipal officers" acting in their "official capacities."

In addition, the Home Rule, codified at Miss. Code Ann. § 21-17-5(1), reserves to the governing authorities of every municipality the "management and control of the . . . municipal affairs and its property and finances." This includes the power to "adopt . . . resolutions . . . with respect to such municipal affairs . . . and finances" *Id.* The Mississippi Attorney General's Office has consistently interpreted the Home Rule, *in pari materia* with Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47, as authorizing municipalities to retain legal counsel to defend claims, including election contest claims, in which the city has an interest. *See* MS AG Op., Ellis (July 14, 1993). This is in keeping with Miss. Code Ann. § 21-15-25, which authorizes the "governing authorities" over every municipality to "employ counsel [other than the appointed city attorney] to represent the interest of the municipality, should the occasion require." Miss. Code Ann. § 21-15-25. Thus, the Greenwood City Council, having determined that the City has an "interest in upholding the validity of the municipal election and actions of its elections officials," R.E. 4, was authorized to retain outside counsel by virtue of the Home Rule and by Miss. Code Ann. § 21-15-25.

Finally, to the extent the Circuit Court's May 11, 2015 Opinion and Order held as a matter of law that the City "has no legitimate legal interest" in the mayoral election, it constitutes an illegal usurpation of the City Council's authority and an impermissible substitution of the Court's judgment for that of the Council's. The Circuit Court's appellate review of a City's

Resolution is restricted. The law affords the City Council broad discretion in determining the City's interests. The determination that the City has an interest in defending claims made against officials acting in their official capacities falls squarely within the discretionary decision-making power of a city council. So long as the Greenwood City Council's Resolution was reasonable and proper and does not conflict with statutory or constitutional law, the Resolution is legal. The Circuit Court's opinion that the City has no "legitimate legal interest" in the outcome of the June 4, 2013 mayoral election was reversible error.

ARGUMENT

I. Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 authorized the Greenwood City Council to employ counsel for the defense of claims challenging the conduct of city officials carrying out their official duties during the June 4, 2013 mayoral election.

The first issue on appeal simply calls for an interpretation of Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47. Miss Code Ann. § 25-1-47(1) authorizes a municipality to provide legal counsel for the defense of any "claim[s] . . . made or brought against any . . . municipal officer, agent, servant, employee, or appointee as a result of his actions while in the capacity of such officer, agent, servant, employee, or appointee" The Bill of Exceptions filed by Perkins argued that the City lacks the statutory authority to retain counsel for the election case for two reasons: (1) because Mayor McAdams was the only named defendant in the subject election contest, i.e. no city officials or elections commissioners were named defendants; and (2) because the election contest made no claims against Mayor McAdams in her "official capacity." *See* R.E. 3 at ¶¶ 4, 5, 9. The Circuit Court's decision in favor of Perkins adopted the exact same reasoning:

It is undisputed that *Sheriel F. Perkins v. McAdams*, 2013-0047-CI, is an election contest between private litigants. There are no city officials or election commissions named as defendants and the action asserts no claims arising out of McAdams' actions as mayor. Therefore, § 25-1-47 clearly prohibits the Council from authorizing the employment of legal counsel to defend the election contest.

R.E. 2 at 4. The competing interpretation of Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 is found in the City Council's Resolution, which reads:

[A]lthough the Mayor is named as the only defendant in the case, the claims in the present State Court Complaint also involve the actions of various City officials carrying out their official duties as members of the Elections Commission, poll workers, as well as the Municipal Clerk and his employees

R.E. 4. Thus, the question on appeal is whether the election contest complaint included "claim[s] . . . made or brought against any . . . municipal officer . . . as a result of his actions while acting in the capacity of such officer." If so, Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 authorizes the City Council to hire counsel to defend the case.

The language of Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 is pivotal to the Court's determination. When drafting the statute, our legislature chose the broader terms "claim, demand, or action . . . made or brought against" a municipal officer rather than the narrower terms "action filed" or "lawsuit brought." The Circuit Court's interpretation of the statute simply ignores the terms "claims . . . made" and interprets the statute to require formal litigation naming the city official whose conduct is in question before the City can hire counsel to defend the case. The Mississippi Attorney General has explicitly criticized and rejected this view:

It is our opinion that the use of the word "claim" in the statute [Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47] intended to express a broader range of authority to negotiate and settle than use of the word "litigation" would have entailed. We do not think the legislature intended to require a lawsuit be filed, with all the expenses attended to litigation, before a public body could avail itself of § 25-1-47 of the Mississippi Code of 1972. Any opinion of this office to the contrary heretofore issued is overruled.

MS AG Op., Shands (Oct. 22, 1990). The Circuit Court's determination that "§ 25-1-47 specifically prohibits the employment of counsel in cases that do not result from official capacity *actions*" as applied, then, is simply wrong. R.E. 2 at 5 (emphasis added).

The Mississippi Attorney General's interpretation is bolstered in this instance because it is in keeping with our statutory requirement that "[t]he only proper defendant in an election contest . . . is the successful party in the election." *Fisher v. Crowe*, 303 So. 2d 474, 475 (Miss. 1974) (discussing Miss. Code Ann. § 23-5-187 (1972), recodified as Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-951). Under the Circuit Court's interpretation, a city could *never* hire counsel to defend an election contest challenging the conduct of city officials carrying out their official duties during a city election. As there is no statute prohibiting the same, the Circuit Court's interpretation creates an impermissible limitation on the City's authority.

Based on the foregoing, the subject election contest includes "claim[s] . . . made or brought against . . . municipal officer[s] . . . while acting in the capacity of such officer[s]," i.e. the actions of the Elections Commissioners, poll workers, the Municipal Clerk, and the clerk's employees during the June 4, 2013 mayoral election for the City of Greenwood. The plain language of Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 makes clear that the Greenwood City Council was empowered to retain counsel to defend the claims challenging the official actions of those officers. The Circuit Court's Opinion and Order overruling the December 16, 2014 "Resolution Appointing Butler Snow, LLP to Represent the City of Greenwood in Litigation" should, therefore, be reversed.

II. Miss. Code Ann. § 21-17-5, when read *in pari materia* with Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 and as interpreted by the Mississippi Attorney General, authorized the Greenwood City Council to employ counsel to defend the City's interests in the election contest challenging the conduct of city officials carrying out their official duties during the June 4, 2013 mayoral election.

Not only did Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 authorize the City to hire counsel to defend claims against city officials in the subject election contest, such action is also authorized by Miss. Code Ann. § 21-17-5, commonly known as the Home Rule. Under the Home Rule, the governing authorities of a municipality may adopt resolutions pertaining to municipal affairs and

finances so long as those actions are not inconsistent with the Mississippi Constitution or the Mississippi Code. *See* Miss. Code Ann. § 21-17-5(1).³ On July 14, 1993, the Mississippi Attorney General issued an opinion authorizing the very action taken by the Greenwood City Council in its Resolution pursuant to the Home Rule:

[T]o employ legal counsel to represent and protect a municipality's interest in an election contest would not appear to conflict with the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 or any statutory provision. Therefore, it is our opinion that municipal governing authorities may authorize such employment pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated § 21-17-5 (Revised 1990).

MS AG Op., Ellis (July 14, 1993). The Attorney General opinion relied upon by the Greenwood City Council in resolving to hire Butler Snow LLP is consistent with *Ellis* and construes the Home Rule *in pari materia* with Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47:

The governing authorities may employ counsel to defend the election contest in state court under its general authority found at Mississippi Code Annotated Section 25-1-47, provided that it is doing so in defense of claims made or brought against a municipal officer or employee as a result of his actions while acting in his official capacity. In addition, it may employ legal counsel in accordance with its home rule authority, found at Section 21-17-5, when it has determined that it has an interest in an election contest.

R.E. 5.

The Circuit Court's Opinion and Order rejects the *Ellis* and *Brock* opinions in part because unlike Miss. Code Ann. § 19-3-47, which pertains to the retention of counsel by county boards of supervisors, Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 does not specifically state that a municipality

The governing authorities of every municipality of this state shall have the care, management and control of the municipal affairs and its property and finances. In addition . . . , the governing authorities of municipalities shall have the power to adopt any orders, resolutions or ordinances with respect to such municipal affairs, property and finances which are not inconsistent with the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, the Mississippi Code of 1972, or any other statute or law of the State of Mississippi

Miss. Code Ann. § 21-17-5(1) provides in relevant part:

may employ counsel in cases in which it decides it has an "interest." *See* R.E. 2 at 5. In addition to the Home Rule's broad grant of authority, however, there is another statute that the Circuit Court ignores. Miss. Code Ann. § 21-15-25, titled "Municipal attorney; appointment and compensation," provides in relevant part: "The governing authorities may annually appoint an attorney-at-law for the municipality, prescribe his duties and fix his compensation, *and/or they may employ counsel to represent the interest of the municipality, should the occasion require.*" (emphasis added). In addition to Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 and the Home Rule, then, Miss. Code Ann. § 21-15-25 clearly authorizes a municipality to retain counsel in cases in which the city determines in has an interest.

The Circuit Court cited no authority inconsistent with *Ellis* and *Brock*, nor did it cite any law suggesting a city is without power to hire counsel to defend an election contest case challenging the conduct of city elections officials in their official capacities. As the basis for Circuit Court's Opinion and Order is incorrect, it must be reversed.

III. The Circuit Court committed reversible error when it substituted its judgment for that of the Greenwood City Council's by holding as a matter of law that the City "has no legitimate legal interest" in the election contest challenging the June 4, 2013 Greenwood mayoral election when the City resolved that it did have an interest.

Perkins appealed the Greenwood City Council's Resolution through Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75, which requires the Circuit Court to determine the propriety of the City Council's decision "on the case as presented by the bill of exceptions." As the Circuit Court's Opinion and Order correctly states, judicial review of "the case as presented by the bill of exceptions" is limited to determining whether the decision (1) exceeds the scope of the City Council's power, (2) violates a constitutional or statutory right of the appealing party, (3) is not supported by substantial evidence, or (4) is arbitrary or capricious. *See* R.E. 2 at 3 (citing *Baymeadows, LLC v. City of Ridgeland*, 131 So. 3d 1156, 1159 (Miss. 2014)). In making this determination, however, the Circuit Court is limited even further:

[O]ur standard of review prevents the substitution of our judgment in place of the council's wisdom and soundness used in reaching their decision. Faircloth [v. Lyles, 592 So. 2d 941, 943 (Miss. 1991)]; Currie v. Ryan, 243 So. 2d 48, 52 (Miss. 1970). The governing body is free to use "their own common knowledge and familiarity" of the area in making its decision, in addition to the testimony and debate provided at the hearing. Faircloth, 592 So. 2d at 943. So long as the governing body's decision is "fairly debatable," we are without authority to supplant the municipality's legislative action. McWaters [v. City of Biloxi, 591 So. 2d 824, 827 (Miss. 1991)].

Matthis v. City of Greenville, 724 So. 2d 1109, 1112 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998). Before the Circuit Court, by way of Perkins's Bill of Exceptions, was the Greenwood City Council's Resolution setting forth its reasoning and ultimate determination that the City had an interest in the subject election contest:

WHEREAS, the Plaintiff contends that various violations of the Mississippi Election Code occurred, the handling of affidavit and absentee ballots, ballot boxes and certain polling procedures; and

WHEREAS, although the Mayor is named as the only defendant in the case, the claims in the present State Court Complaint also involve the actions of various City officials carrying out their official duties as members of the Elections Commission, poll workers, as well as the Municipal Clerk and his employees; . . .

. . . .

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREENWOOD MISSISSIPPI, . . . that [it] has determined that the City of Greenwood has an interest in the election contest and finds it necessary to employ counsel . . . in defense of claims made or brought against various City officials carrying out their official duties as members of the Elections Commission, poll workers, as well as the Municipal Clerk and his employees

R.E. 4. The Circuit Court exceeded the scope of its appellate review when it ruled as follows, substituting its own judgment for that of the Council's:

In this case, what the City of Greenwood has resolved to do is financially assist Mayor McAdams in marshaling evidence and retaining legal services to defend against Ms. Perkins' claim that she (Perkins) received the greatest number of legal votes cast in the June 4, 2013 general election. The City of Greenwood has no legitimate legal interest in the determination of this ultimate issue and bears no liability in the election contest.

R.E. 2 at 6. In reaching this decision, the Circuit Court completely ignored the City Council's findings and formulated its own opinions about the City Council's decision. The Circuit Court's determination that the City "has no legitimate legal interest" in the mayoral election is an illegal usurpation of the City Council's authority and impermissible substitution of the Court's judgment for that of the Council's. So long as the Greenwood City Council's Resolution was reasonable and proper and did not conflict with statutory or constitutional law, the Resolution is legal.

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