NO 2015 CA 00066
	NO. 2015-CA-00966
CAROLYN MCADAMS	APPELLANT
vs.	
SHERIEL F. PERKINS	APPELLEE
ON APPEAL FROM THE CI	RUIT COURT OF LEFLORE COUNTY, MISS
	RUIT COURT OF LEFLORE COUNTY, MISS BRIEF OF APPELLEE (SHERIEL F. PERKINS)
(	BRIEF OF APPELLEE
(	BRIEF OF APPELLEE (SHERIEL F. PERKINS) ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED WILLIE J. PERKINS, SR., MSB #4122
(	BRIEF OF APPELLEE (SHERIEL F. PERKINS) ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED WILLIE J. PERKINS, SR., MSB #4122 THE PERKINS FIRM, PLLC
(	BRIEF OF APPELLEE (SHERIEL F. PERKINS)  ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED  WILLIE J. PERKINS, SR., MSB #4122 THE PERKINS FIRM, PLLC 612 West Washington Street

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Greenwood City Council, relying strictly upon an Attorney General Opinion voted to pay Appellant Carolyn McAdams' attorney's fees in an election case. This case is between

references to the Exhibits will be cited as "EX", along with the corresponding exhibit number.

McAdams and another private citizen. The case involves no official act of McAdams as mayor. The election lawsuit sought no claim or demand or action or relief against any city official. The only proper defendant in an election contest under Mississippi laws is the successful party in the election. *Fisher v. Crowe* 303 So.2d 474, 475 (Miss. 1974).

The sole issue in an election contest under Mississippi laws is which candidate received the greatest number of legal votes in the contested election *Straughter v. Collins* 819 So.2d 1244, 1252 (Miss. 2002).

No one but McAdams would benefit from the city retaining the attorney represent her in her election challenge and to also represent the "interest" of the city in the same case. This is nothing short of an illegal scheme to donate public funds to a private citizen in a private election contest.

The Attorney General Opinion is grounded on not one case authority. The lower court properly found that the decision of the council was beyond its scope or powers and violated Appellee Sheriel Perkins' constitutional and statutory rights.

The lower court found that the city council's discretion constitutes misuse of municipal authority regarding the expenditure of public funds for private purposes in clear violation of the Mississippi Constitution.

The resolution of the Greenwood City Council authorized an unlawful donation or grant to Appellant. Article 4, Section 66 and 96 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 prohibits unauthorized donations or gratuities of this nature.

Finally, Appellee contends McAdams has confessed the issues raised in her brief on this appeal. McAdams certified that the Bill of Exception embody the facts and decision regarding the Greenwood City Council to approve the Resolution appointing Butler Snow, LLP to

represent the city in her election contest case. She confessed the city voted by resolution to pay her attorney's fees and cost; that the resolution violated state laws prohibiting the authorization of and use public funds and monies for a private cause or purpose; and that the city's reliance on the Attorney General Opinion to Brock was misplaced and in violation of state law since she was the only named defendant in the election contest case. A party is bound by her concession in her pleadings.

There has been no persuasion to demonstrate a need to disturb the decision of the lower court. This court should affirm the lower court's decision and dismiss this appeal.

## **LEGAL ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES**

I. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN REVERSING DECISION OF THE GREENWOOD CITY COUNCIL TO RETAIN A LAW FIRM TO REPRESENT THE CITY IN AN ELECTION CONTEST CASE BETWEEN TWO PRIVATE CITIZENS?<sup>2</sup>

Following her lost of the June 4, 2013, Mayoral General Election, Appellee Sheriel F. Perkins filed an election contest. The sole parties in the contest were the losing party, (Appellee) and Appellant Carolyn McAdams, winning party. In the lawsuit, Appellee alleged various violations of the Mississippi Election Codes, including, voters voting in the wrong precincts, the handling of absentee ballots, and the failure to count affidavit ballots. Appellee sought to be declared the candidate who received the greatest number of legal votes. Although, Appellee complain of conduct of certain city officials in carrying out their duties during the city election,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Appellee believes this appeal should be dismissed without deciding issues raised on appeal due to appellant's lack of standing to bring this appeal. Appellee has raised in a separate pleading (Motion To Dismiss) as to whether Appellant has authority to bring this appeal without a resolution or authority of the Greenwood City Council. The City of Greenwood has failed to pass a resolution authorizing this appeal.

the lawsuit sought no claim or demand or action or liability against them. Appellee only sued Carolyn McAdams, the winning party.

The only proper defendant in an election contest under Mississippi general election contest statute is the winning party in the election. See *Fisher v. Crowe*, 303 So.2d 474 (Miss. 1974). In *Fisher*, plaintiff sued the successful candidates for board of aldermen and the election commissioners. The presiding Judge ordered a new election be held. The successful candidates and the election commissioners gave notice of appeal but they failed to file a proper appeal bond. This Court held that the election commissioners were state officials and not required to post bond but the aldermen elect were not entitled to appeal without bond.

The court stated as follows:

"... we... are of the opinion that the election contest insofar as the alderman-elect are concerned is a private matter between themselves and the contestants in which the city is not beneficially interested, and, as such, they are not entitled to appeal without bond. 289 So.2d 921, 923

Since the aldermen-elect failed to timely file a bond the appeal as to them were dismissed. The Court held that since the successful candidates failed to perfect their appeal, there was no justiciable issue before the Court.

Further, in *Fisher v. Crowe*, this Court stated as follows:

The only proper defendant in an election contest under this section is the successful party in the election. The issues, which are made up and joined are between the unsuccessful and the successful candidate in the election and no others. This is true even though the proof involving irregularities or fraudulent conduct would perhaps involve the election commissioners. We are, therefore, of the opinion that the election commissioners were improperly joined as defendants in the first instance in the election contest.

Also, the court stated:

The only function of the election commissioners was to conduct

the election and certify the results. Once this was done, they had no such beneficial interest in the outcome of the election that would give them a right to appeal from a judgment voiding the election. 303 So.2d at 475.

The election contest was not brought against Appellant Carolyn McAdams in her capacity as Mayor or against her as a result of her action while acting in the capacity as Mayor. The lawsuit was a purely private action between two private citizens to determine which one received the greatest number of the legal cast votes during the June 4, 2013, General Election, in the City of Greenwood, Mississippi.

Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 does not authorize the Greenwood City Council to employ counsel for the defense of claims challenging the conduct of city officials Carrying out their official duties during the June 4, 2013 mayoral election.

On December 16, 2014, the Greenwood City Council passed a Resolution appointing Butler Snow, LLP to represent the City of Greenwood in Litigation. (CR 24).

The fifth "WHEREAS" of the Resolution states in pertinent parts as follows:

"... the City Council of the City of Greenwood desires to retain the law firm of Butler Snow, LLP to defend the case in State Court to represent the City's interest in upholding the validity of the municipal election and actions of its election officials pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. § 25-1-47 and as authorized by written opinion of the Mississippi attorney General..."

The case referred to in the resolution is the private election litigation, *Perkins v. McAdams*, (Circuit Court of Leflore County, Cause No. 2013-0047 CI). In that lawsuit, Butler Snow, LLP represents McAdams, the sole defendant.

First, there is no specific authorization under Mississippi Code Ann. § 25-1-47 for the city to employ counsel to represent a private person (such as Mayor-elect) in litigation where there is no claim against the mayor while acting within the scope of her duties.

§ 25-1-47(1) provides:

(1) Any municipality of the State of Mississippi is hereby authorized and empowered, within the discretion of its governing authorities, to investigate and provide legal counsel for the defense of any claim, demand, or action, where civil or criminal, made or brought against any state, county, school district, or municipal officer, agent, servant, employee, or appointee as a result of his actions while acting in the capacity of such officer, agent, servant, employee, or appointee: and such investigation and defense. (my emphasis added)

The City of Greenwood has absolutely no interest in the election contest between two private parties. No city officer, agent, servant, employee or appointee is a named defendant in the case. There is no claim in the election contest that McAdams performed any act in her capacity as mayor of the city. The city council, by passing the Resolution was in effect deciding the merits of the election contest case and authorizing the illegal use of public funds to support McAdams.

The lower court found as follows:

It is undisputed that *Sheriel F. Perkins v. McAdams*, 2013-0047-CI, is an election contest between private litigants. There is no city officials or election commissions named as defendants and the action asserts no claims arising out of McAdams' actions as mayor. Therefore, § 25-1-47 clearly prohibits the Council from authorizing The employment of legal counsel to defend the election contest. (CR 47)

In the Resolution, the city council relied upon the Attorney General Opinion dated December 1, 2014, to City Attorney H. Donald Brock, Jr. to hire Butler Snow LLP. (CR 26). This opinion provides no authority for the City Council's decision to provide public funds for a private purpose.

In Madison Co. et al v. Hopkins, 875 So.2d 43 (MS 2003), the court stated:

Although Attorney General opinions are not binding, they may certainly be considered by the Court. *City of Durant v. Laws Constr. Co.*, 721 So.2d 598, 604 (Miss.1998). See Miss. Code Ann. §7-5-25 (Supp. 1997). The Attorney has stated in several opinions that Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 "permits, but does not require, a county to provide legal counsel for

the defense of any claim against an officer or employee of a county while acting in his official capacity. . ." Miss. Att'y Gen. Op. No. 1999-0468, 1999 WL 1075179, \*2 (Sept. 10, 1999). See also, Miss. Att'y Gen. Op. No. 96-0063, 1996 WL 650029 (Nov.1,1996); Miss. Att'y Gen. Op., 1993 WL 669094 (Feb. 3, 1993) (to Robert Shepard); Miss. Att'y Gen. Op., 1991 WL 578171 (Dec. 18, 1991)(to Everett T. Sanders).

857 So.2d at 50.

#### The lower court further found as follows:

The Mississippi Attorney General has consistently opined that §25-1-47 Prohibits a municipality from authorizing the payment of legal expenses in election contests absent claims resulting from official capacity actions. Even in its December 1, 2014 Opinion in the instant case, the Attorney General opined, consistent with its earlier opinions, that §25-1-47 authorized municipalities to employ counsel to defend election contests raising claims made or brought against an official as a result of his official capacity actions. (CR 47)

The lower court referenced to footnote 3: MS AG Op., Still (October 3, 2008) (reimbursement of legal expenses may be authorized where municipality gives official advance approval of legal representation and determines that the official acted in his official capacity); MS AG Op., Tennyson (August 8, 1997). See, also, MS AG Op., Childers (May 2, 1997); MS AG Op., Causey (April 22, 1992); MS AG Op., Causey (November 14, 1991); MS AG Op., Belk (June 27, 1991). (CR 47).

Appellant's reliance on the attorney general opinion's interpretation of the word "claim" in §25-1-47 to authorize the city's action in passing the Resolution is misplaced.

The Attorney General Office offered no case authority for its broad interpretation of the use of the word "claim" under the statute. Further, the Attorney General Office gave no reason why it retreaded from any prior interpretations of the statute to the contrary.

Webster's Dictionary defines the word, claim, as:

n. the demanding of something as a right, to make a claim; (insurance) a request for payment of compensation; a right to demand assistance, to have a claim on someone; an assertion of right to possession of a thing, a claim to a title; an assertion (esp. of superiority); the thing claimed, esp. land

claimed by a settler or prospector to lay claim to to demand ownership of to stake out a claim to mark boundaries of (land) to prove ownership claimant n. a person making a claim [O.F. claime]

Even under these definition of the word "claim", it could not stretch to any actions or conduct of city officials who are not defendants in the election contest. There is simply no demand against any city official. As the lower court correctly found, the city "has no legitimate legal interest in the determination of this ultimate issue and bears no liability in the election contest. (CR 49).

Miss. Code Ann. § 21-17-5, when read in pari material with Miss. Code Ann. § 25-1-47 and as interpreted by the Mississippi Attorney General, does not authorize the Greenwood City Council to employ counsel to defend the City's interests in the election contest challenging the conduct of city officials carrying out their official duties during the June 4, 2013 mayoral election.

At page 6 of her brief, Appellant contends that Miss. Code Ann. § 21-17-5 commonly known as the Home Rule, authorize the city to hire counsel to defend claims against city official in the subject election case. Again, Appellant cites no case authority to support her claim. Appellant relies solely upon her misinterpretation of a prior *Attorney General Opinion*, *Ellis*, (July 14, 1993).

The lower court rejected this contention by the city. The lower court stated as follows:

The Council argues that its decision was authorized by the Attorney General's December 1, 2014 opinion interpreting § 21-17-5. Over the years, the Mississippi Attorney General has expanded its interpretation of Mississippi law regarding a municipality's authority to pay legal expenses in election contests. In December 1991, the Attorney General first interpreted another statute, § 19-3-47, to specifically "bestow discretionary authority upon county boards of supervisors to employ legal counsel in civil cases in which the county is interested". *MS AG Op., Sanders*, December 18, 1991). Then in 1993, the Attorney General without any reference to §25-1-47, opined that through a municipality did not have the same specific statutory authority §19-3-47 provides to a county, applying the same rationale with regard to a municipality's authority pursuant to §21-17-5 would not conflict with the Mississippi Constitution or any statutory law. *MS AG Op., Ellis* (July 14, 1993).

This interpretation is in direct contradiction to the specific language of §25-1-47. Although §19-3-47 specifically authorizes a board of supervisors to employ legal counsel in all civil cases where the board finds it has an interest in the litigation, §25-1-47 does not include similar language. In fact, §25-1-57 specifically prohibits the employment of counsel in cases that do not result from official capacity actions.

The Attorney General's Opinion rationalizes what would unquestionably be the expenditure of public funds for a private purpose. The sole issue in an election contest in the State of Mississippi is which candidate received the greater number of legal votes in the contested election. *Straughter v. Collins*, 819 So. 2d 1244, 1252 (Miss. 2002).

Each candidate presents evidence and legal support for her claim that she is the winner by this standard. Usually the plaintiff's position involves claims that certain aspects of the election process did not proceed according to law, while the winner defends by showing that no irregularities occurred. These are evidentiary issues and not the ultimate determination in the case.<sup>3</sup> (CR 48-49)

The lower court's finding is proper and correct and should not be disturbed on this appeal.

The Lower Court did not commit reversible error, did not substitute its judgment for the Greenwood City Council and correctly held as a matter of law that the city had no legitimate legal interest in the election contest challenging the June 4, 2013 Greenwood Mayoral Election

The lower court in its legal analysis correctly set forth the standard as review as follows:

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